017  
FILED  
SID J. WHITE  
MAY 21 1996  
CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
By \_\_\_\_\_  
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID BOWICK, :  
 :  
 Petitioner, :  
 :  
 v. : CASE NO. 87,826  
 :  
 STATE OF FLORIDA, :  
 :  
 Respondent. :  
 \_\_\_\_\_/

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS  
PUBLIC DEFENDER  
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

TERRY CARLEY  
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER  
FLORIDA BAR NO. 295701  
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE  
SUITE 401  
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET  
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301  
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The petitioner was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the district court and will be referred to by name or as the petitioner. The state is the respondent and was the appellee in the district court. The state will be referred to as the state or the respondent.

The record on appeal consists of six volumes. Volume I contains the information, motions, orders, and other pleadings filed in this case in the trial court. References to this volume will be to "R" followed by the appropriate page number, in parentheses. Volumes II, III, IV, and V contain the transcripts of the proceedings in the trial court. References to these volumes will be to "T" followed by the appropriate page number, in parentheses. Volume VI consists of a stipulation entered into by the state and the defense regarding jury selection. References to



this volume will be to the "Stipulation".

The proceedings in the trial court were held before Circuit Judge Clinton Foster in Panama City, Bay County, Florida.

The documents comprising the record in this appeal refer to the petitioner as David Bowicki, as well as David Bowick. After the jury retired to deliberate, the state attempted to clear up the confusion. At this time, Mr. Bowick informed the trial court that his name was actually Bowick, and not Bowicki. (T-110-111)

This case is before the Court on a certified question from the First District Court of Appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The petitioner, David Bowick, was charged by information with the crime of purchasing cocaine. After a trial by jury, he was convicted and adjudicated guilty. The trial judge sentenced Mr. Bowick to 5 ½ years in prison. This was a belated appeal.

Petitioner appealed to the First District Court of Appeal which issued a per curiam affirmed opinion on January 29, 1996. (See Appendix A). A motion for clarification, rehearing, rehearing en banc, and/or certification was filed raising three possible questions: 1) Does Coney apply to pipeline cases; 2) must an objection be raised to preserve the Coney issue; and 3) is the state estopped from taking a position that petitioner's absence from the bench was not error? (Appendix B)

Upon rehearing another opinion was issued on April 8, 1996, granting relief in part and denying relief in part. The

following question was certified to this Court regarding the application of its decision in Coney v. State, 653 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1995):

DOES THE DECISION IN CONEY [V. STATE, 653 SO.2D 1009 (FLA. 1995)] APPLY TO "PIPELINE CASES," THAT IS, THOSE OF SIMILARLY SITUATED DEFENDANTS WHOSE CASES WERE PENDING ON DIRECT REVIEW OR NOT YET FINAL DURING THE TIME CONEY WAS UNDER CONSIDERATION BUT PRIOR TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE OPINION?

(Appendix C).

A notice to invoke the discretionary review of this Court was filed on April 25, 1996 (Appendix D), and the First District Court of Appeal issued its mandate in this case on April 24, 1996. (See Appendix E).

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The appellant, David Bowick, was arrested for allegedly attempting to purchase a rock of crack cocaine from an undercover police officer on November 19, 1993. (R-1) He was charged by information dated January 19, 1994, with unlawfully purchasing a controlled substance, cocaine, in violation of Section 893.13, Florida Statutes. (R-6) The information was filed 62 days after Mr. Bowick's arrest and incarceration in the county jail. (R-1, 6)

The jury for Mr. Bowick's trial was selected on February 28, 1994. (R-24) The trial was held on March 1, 1994, before Circuit Judge Clinton Foster. (R-26)

Officer John Pierce, of the Panama City Police Department, was the first witness to testify for the state. He testified that he was working with the Bay County Joint Narcotics Task Force on November 19, 1993. (T-16-17) On that date, the task force was involved in a reverse sting operation in which a plain-clothes police officer wearing a body wire attempted to sell cocaine on the street. (T-17-18) The sting operation was situated in front of the Neota Motel, at 14th Court and Palo Alto in Panama City, Florida. (T-18)

Officer Pierce was in his unmarked police vehicle nearby. His job was to monitor the body wire that his fellow officer, Officer Gardner was wearing. (T-19) He told the jury that he saw Mr. Bowick walk around the corner of the Neota Motel and walk directly up to Officer Gardner. Allegedly Officer Gardner did not approach Mr. Bowick. (T-28). He heard the conversation through the wire and observed an exchange between their hands. (T-19-21)

During Officer Pierce's testimony, the state attempted to introduce the audiotape of the drug transaction. (T-23-24) The defense objected. The court overruled the objection and allowed the tape to be played for the jury. (T-24-25)

On cross-examination, Officer Pierce admitted that he was about 200 feet away from the transaction and that it was 10:50 p.m. (T-28-29) The defense attorney asked him if sale of crack cocaine was illegal in the state of Florida. Officer Pierce responded in the affirmative. The defense attorney then asked if

Officer Gardner, who had been selling crack cocaine that night, was arrested. Officer Pierce replied that he was not. (T-31) Nine or ten sting transactions were conducted that evening. (T-32) Officer Pierce conceded that all of the transactions conducted that evening would be on the tape. (T-32) On redirect examination, the defense attorney asked the police officer, "If Mr. Gardner hadn't sold that crack, there wouldn't be anyone there to buy it, would there?" The police officer's answer was yes. The following exchange occurred next,

Q But if he hadn't of sold it,  
those ten people couldn't have  
bought it from him, could they?  
A Not from him.

(T-33-34)

The state's next witness was Officer Frank Gardner. (T-34) On the night of November 19, 1993, he was working as an undercover agent, posing as a drug dealer. (T-35) He identified Mr. Bowick as the person he sold cocaine to that night. (T-36) He testified that Mr. Bowick walked up to him and asked him if he had a rock, meaning crack cocaine. The officer pulled some rocks of cocaine from his pocket and displayed them. He claimed that Mr. Bowick picked out the rock he wanted. (T-36-37) He told the jury that, when Mr. Bowick approached him, the cocaine was in his pocket and not in his hand. (T-37)

On cross-examination, the officer was asked how one posed as a drug dealer. He said that this involved walking around or hanging out on the corner of the street. (T-39-40) He denied

approaching Mr. Bowick or having any drugs out in the open. (T-41) Officer Gardner testified that the transaction took two to three minutes. (T-42) He could not say whether Officer Pierce had taped the entire transaction. (T-42) The transcript of the tape made by Officer Pierce comprises 30 lines in the record. (T-25-26)

At the conclusion of Officer Gardner's testimony, the state called Bay County Sheriff's Deputy Faith Bell. (T-44) Deputy Bell was in an unmarked vehicle approximately 250 yards from the transaction. She was in a separate vehicle from Officer Pierce. (T-49) Her part of the operation was to run the body wire and listen to the conversation for the safety of the officer. She was also to provide back-up assistance. (T-45) She saw Mr. Bowick approach Officer Gardner. (T-46) The lighting was dim but she could see the transaction. (T-46) She believed the transaction took less than two minutes. (T-47) Although she saw the transaction occur, she was only able to see the two individuals involved. She could not see their hand movements. (T-48) She could not recall whether Officer Pierce or she made the decision of when to start the tape. (T-48)

As its last witness, the state recalled Officer Pierce to the stand. He testified that during the transaction he was in charge of making the audiotape of the transaction. (T-57) He claimed that he began the tape each time he saw someone approach Officer Gardner or begin a conversation. (T-57) The recording device would then be turned off when the transaction was com-

pleted. (T-57) The recording device was in a large suitcase in the back seat. To start the recorder the officer was required to reach around behind himself to the back seat. (T-58) The defense asked the officer during cross-examination how long the tape was. The officer responded that it was approximately a minute or a minute and one-half. (T-59) The defense attorney had the tape played again and timed its length as 52 seconds. The officer then told the jury that there was some conversation which occurred before the tape recording device was turned on. He admitted that he may have missed some of the initial conversation. (T-59-60)

The state rested. The defense moved for a directed verdict of acquittal on the basis that the evidence showed Mr. Bowick had been entrapped. The defense also made a motion to dismiss. The court said, "Motion denied", apparently referring to both motions. (T-61)

Mr. Bowick testified on his own behalf as the only defense witness. He worked 40 hours a week at Springfield Community Church cafeteria. (T-62-63) He worked as a cook but performed other responsibilities in the church. (T-63) On the day in question he got off of work about 3:00 or 3:30. He did not go directly home. He went to his employer's house to help her get ready for a garage sale. (T-63) She asked him to come to work very early the next morning. (T-64) His employer then dropped him off at the house of Josephine Harris, an older friend, where he watched the news. He went home and had dinner at his mother's

house and got ready for bed. He discovered that he could not sleep so he decided to go out and buy something to drink. (T-65-66)

As he neared the Neota Motel, Officer Gardner called out to him, "[Y]o, man, yo." (T-70, 72) The officer approached him at "a fast little trot". (T-72) He asked Mr. Bowick, "You looking, you looking". Mr. Bowick responded "Looking for what?" He thought the man was referring to a woman standing nearby. It was his belief that he was offering Mr. Bowick the services of a prostitute. Officer Gardner reached into his pocket and flashed something. He told the officer he had only \$10 and was going to buy a bottle of wine. The officer told him he would give him what was in his hand for \$10. Mr. Bowick testified that it was approximately \$40 or \$50 worth of drugs. He had not been thinking of buying drugs but the officer was offering him such a large amount for only \$10 that he gave him the \$10 bill. It was not his intention to buy cocaine when he went out that evening. (T-72-73, 78)

Because the area in which he lived was a high-crime area, Mr. Bowick was very nervous when the police officer approached him. As he said, "You don't just walk up to strangers over there." (T-81)

At the conclusion of Mr. Bowick's testimony the defense attorney moved for a judgment of acquittal, asking the court to consider the objective standard of entrapment. The court denied the motion. (T-83) During the jury instructions, the court read

instructions relating to the defense of entrapment. (T-102-103)

After the jury retired the state pointed out to the court that the information charged Mr. Bowick as David Bowicki, but he was also known as David Bowick. The defense attorney and Mr. Bowick informed the court that his name was Bowick. (T-110-111) The court allowed the state to amend the information to read David Bowick rather than David Bowicki. (T-111)

The jury returned with the request that they be allowed to listen to the tape in the jury room. The parties agreed that the portion of the tape relating to the transaction would be rerecorded so that the jury would not hear other portions of the tape relating to other transactions. (T-111-112) Later, the jury returned with questions regarding the defense of entrapment. The court reread the entrapment instructions to the members of the jury. (T-112)

The jury found Mr. Bowick guilty of purchasing cocaine. The court asked if the defendant wanted the jury polled. Mr. Dusseault, the defense attorney, responded in the negative. (T-115) The jury found Mr. Bowick guilty as charged of the purchase of cocaine. (R-29)

Mr. Bowick's sentencing was held on March 23, 1995. (T-166) His employer testified on his behalf. (T-168-169) He was adjudicated guilty. Judge Foster ordered him to serve five and a half years in prison. Mr. Bowick was ordered to pay court costs of \$259.00, an attorney's fee of \$300.00, and a fine of \$1,000.00, with a surcharge of \$50.00. (T-171) He was given



credit for 124 days spent in jail. (T-172) Judge Foster declared that Mr. Bowick's driver's license would be suspended for two years. (T-171) Mr. Bowick received 124 days jail credit. The court imposed a \$100.00 fee "pursuant to Chapter 893". (T-172; R-34, 36-41) No restitution was ordered. (R-42)

Mr. Bowick's attorney failed to file a notice of appeal. Mr. Bowick filed a notice of appeal on his own behalf. This was dated May 5, 1994, and was filed on May 9, 1994. The district court issued an order dismissing Mr. Bowick's appeal due to lack of jurisdiction on June 9, 1994. (R-75)

On August 8, 1994, Mr. Bowick filed a motion for mitigation and reduction of sentence in the circuit court in Bay County. In its order denying the motion for mitigation and reduction of sentence, the trial court stated that Mr. Bowick's sentence became final 30 days after the sentencing on March 23, 1994. His motion to mitigate and reduce the sentence was filed on August 4, 1994. The court noted that this was more than 60 days from the time the sentence was originally imposed. The court found that it was without jurisdiction. The order notified Mr. Bowick that he had 30 days in which to appeal the order. (R-86-87)

Mr. Bowick then filed a motion for post-conviction relief in the lower court on September 5, 1994. (R-88-104) To it he attached a memorandum of law in which he alleged, among other grounds, that trial counsel failed to file a timely notice of appeal upon his request. (R-105-112)

The motion for post-conviction relief was heard by Judge

Foster on October 19, 1994. (R-113) The court was mainly concerned with Mr. Bowick's charge of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to file a notice of appeal. (R-115) The trial counsel, Brian Dusseault, informed the court that he and Mr. Bowick discussed the possibility of an appeal prior to the trial. Mr. Dusseault did not remember talking with him after the trial regarding this matter but stated that it was possible they had discussed it. (R-116) Mr. Bowick told the court he had discussed the appeal with Mr. Dusseault after the trial. (T-117)

The court found that Mr. Bowick had received ineffective assistance of counsel in that his attorney had failed to file the notice of appeal. The court granted Mr. Bowick permission to file a belated appeal. Judge Foster appointed the office of the public defender to represent Mr. Bowick on his appeal. (R-121) Trial counsel filed a notice of appeal on Mr. Bowick's behalf on October 26, 1994. (R-125)

Petitioner appealed to the First District Court of Appeal which issued a per curiam affirmed opinion on January 29, 1996. (See Appendix A). A motion for clarification, rehearing, rehearing en banc, and/or certification was filed raising three possible questions: 1) Does Coney apply to pipeline cases; 2) must an objection be raised to preserve the Coney issue; and 3) is the state estopped from taking a position that petitioner's absence from the bench was not error? (Appendix B)

Upon rehearing another opinion was issued on April 8, 1996, granting relief in part and denying relief in part. The follow-

ing question was certified to this Court regarding the application of its decision in Coney v. State, 653 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1995):

DOES THE DECISION IN CONEY [V. STATE, 653 SO.2D 1009 (FLA. 1995)] APPLY TO "PIPELINE CASES," THAT IS, THOSE OF SIMILARLY SITUATED DEFENDANTS WHOSE CASES WERE PENDING ON DIRECT REVIEW OR NOT YET FINAL DURING THE TIME CONEY WAS UNDER CONSIDERATION BUT PRIOR TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE OPINION?

(Appendix C).

A notice to invoke the discretionary review of this Court was filed on April 25, 1996 (Appendix D), and the First District Court of Appeal issued its mandate in this case on April 24, 1996. (See Appendix E).

The record contains numerous documents filed in the lower court by Mr. Bowick on his own behalf. They will not be discussed here as they are not pertinent to the issue raised in this appeal.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The issue which is before this Court is a CERTIFIED QUESTION. Petitioner was not present at the site of selection when the jury was chosen and therefore was unable to participate in the selection of his jury. Petitioner's case is one of the so-called "pipeline cases," falling between the time of Coney's trial, yet before the decision was rendered in Coney v State, 653 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1995).

Equal protection under the law, as well as decisions of this

and other courts, demands that Petitioner be granted a new trial.

The reasoning of Coney is applicable here. At the very least, the law which preceded Coney, and upon which Coney was decided, mandates that Petitioner be granted the same relief.

The state conceded error in Coney, but the error was held harmless. Here, the state is estopped from arguing that what occurred here is not error.

Error has occurred, and it is not harmless, whether peremptory challenges were made or not. The challenges may not have been enough or the ones Petitioner wanted.

There is error, it is harmful, and as it is impossible to access the consequences, the harmful error is prejudicial. Thus, the answer to the certified question is YES, and Petitioner should be granted a new trial.

ARGUMENT

CERTIFIED QUESTION

DOES THE DECISION IN CONEY [V. STATE, 653 SO.2D 1009 (FLA. 1995)] APPLY TO "PIPELINE CASES," THAT IS, THOSE OF SIMILARLY SITUATED DEFENDANTS WHOSE CASES WERE PENDING ON DIRECT REVIEW OR NOT YET FINAL DURING THE TIME CONEY WAS UNDER CONSIDERATION BUT PRIOR TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE OPINION?

Yes. Whether Coney<sup>1</sup> is a clarification of existing law or new law, it must be applied to pipeline cases.<sup>2</sup> Even if Coney is not applied to this case, the rules, case law, and Constitutional law preceding Coney must be applied in the same manner as in Coney.

A. Facts of the Case.

ISSUE I

REVERSIBLE ERROR OCCURRED IN THAT APPELLANT WAS NOT PRESENT DURING THE SELECTION OF HIS JURY.

The transcript of jury selection shows that the jury was selected during an unrecorded discussion. (T-220) No recess was declared so it is clear that the jury panel was present in the courtroom and the attorneys were at the bench with the judge. (T-220). The defense attorney and the assistant state attorney

---

<sup>1</sup>Coney v. State, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995).

<sup>2</sup>This Court should also be aware that this issue has been raised and briefed in depth in (Lazaro) Martinez v. State, Case No. 85,450, and (Alfredco) Lett v. State, Case No. 87,541, and was addressed at oral argument in Boyett v. State, Case No. 81,971.

entered into a Stipulation that Petitioner was not present when peremptory challenges were exercised and the jury selected. (See Stipulation, Volume VI)

Further, the record shows that Petitioner did not waive his right to be present. The court did not inquire whether the decisions made by his attorney were acceptable to him.

Mr. Bowick did not personally, or through counsel, object to this procedure for selecting the jury. The trial court did not specifically address this procedure with him or ask whether he desired to be present at the bench conference or waived his presence at the bench. It is clear from the transcribed record that Mr. Bowick never stated that he was waiving his right to be present during the challenging of the jury or that his counsel stated that he had waived his presence. There is no record, further, that Mr. Bowick expressly ratified or approved any of the decisions made by his attorney. The trial court made no inquiries whatsoever of Mr. Bowick regarding his knowledge of his right to be present during the challenging of jurors, regarding a waiver of his presence at that time, or regarding his approval of peremptory strikes made by defense counsel. Mr. Bowick was silent throughout the process.

The Petitioner was not present during this important conference. The record demonstrates that only counsel for the state and the defense were at the bench.

The record is entirely silent regarding whether Petitioner understood the process of jury selection and, in particular, un-

derstood that the defense and the prosecution had the right to exercise peremptory challenges. Additionally, it is beyond dispute that lay persons typically do not understand what a "peremptory" challenge is.

B. Coney and pre-Coney Law.

The law applied in Coney is based upon both a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure and case law, which in turn is based on both the Florida and U.S. Constitutions.

Rule 3.180(a)(4), of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, requires that a defendant in a criminal case be present "at the beginning of the trial during the examination, challenging, impanelling, and swearing of the jury" and this Court has ruled that this provision means exactly what it says. Coney, at 1013.

A defendant is not present during the challenging of jurors if he is not at the location where the selection process is taking place. Thus, it is not enough that he be present somewhere in the courtroom. He must be able to hear the proceedings and participate in them. If he is seated at the defense table while a whispered selection conference is being conducted at the judge's bench, he cannot be said to be present and participating.

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