067

# FILED

SHO J. WHITE

JUN 10 1996

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT
By Cliff Deputy Gronk

DAVID BOWICK,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 87,826

## RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN J. MOSLEY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 593280

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, David Bowick, was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the First District. He will be referred to herein as petitioner or by his last name. Respondent, State of Florida, was the prosecuting authority in the trial court and the appellee in the First District. It will be referred to herein as "State."

The record on appeal will be referred to as follows:

Volume I (pleadings, etc.)
Volume II (sentencing transcript)
Volume IV (supplemental pleadings)
Volume V (voir dire)
Volume VI (stipulation)
(These five volumes are numbered consecutively
1 through 222.)
R

Volume III (trial transcript)
(1 through 117)

Т

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Bowick has not summarized the facts relevant to the certified question. The State, therefore, will summarize these facts.

Bowick was present during examination of the jurors (R. 216, 222), but he did not participate in the sidebar conference when peremptory strikes were exercised (R. 222). The circuit court minutes reflect that a sidebar conference, lasting one minute,

was held at 10:49 a.m. on February 28, 1994. (R. 24) After the strikes were exercised, the trial court announced in open court the names of the jurors selected. (R. 220) Immediately preceding trial on March 1, 1994, the trial court asked the parties whether they "acknowledge[d] the presence of the jury selected to try this case," and they answered affirmatively. (T. 5)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Bowick was seated at defense table during a sidebar conference that lasted one minute at which peremptory strikes were announced. Bowick seeks a new trial because he was not standing beside the lawyers at the bench during this one-minute conference. As justification for a new trial, he relies on a rule of law that was announced by this Court approximately a year after completion of his jury trial. Coney, infra, on which Bowick relies, changed the law, but the change did not benefit Coney. Coney was not released from custody; he was not given a new trial; and neither his conviction nor his sentence was reduced. The new rule announced in Coney was held to be prospective only. There is nothing confusing about the prospectivity principle; it is fully understood. Based on these facts, the certified question is not one of great public importance, and it, therefore, should not be addressed by this Court.

If the certified question is addressed, it should be answered in the negative. Coney did not reap a windfall, and neither should Bowick.

Assuming, <u>arguendo</u>, that the certified question is addressed, the new rule announced in <u>Coney</u> should be clarified. The

defendant's presence at defense table when peremptory strikes are announced at the bench satisfies the constitution. If the defendant wants to stand at the bench with counsel, the burden is on him to make his preference known. If he remains silent, he waives the right, and he cannot be heard to complain for the first time on appeal.

#### ARGUMENT

#### CERTIFIED OUESTION

DOES THE DECISION IN <u>CONEY V. STATE</u>, 653 SO. 2D 1009 (FLA. 1995) APPLY TO "PIPELINE CASES," THAT IS, THOSE OF SIMILARLY SITUATED DEFENDANTS WHOSE CASES WERE PENDING ON DIRECT REVIEW OR NOT YET FINAL DURING THE TIME <u>CONEY</u> WAS UNDER CONSIDERATION BUT PRIOR TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE OPINION?

Whether to address certified questions purporting to be of great public importance is within this Court's sound discretion.

Art. V, § 3(b)(4), Fla. Const.; State v. Burgess, 326 So. 2d 441

(Fla. 1976); Stein v. Darby, 134 So. 2d 232 (Fla. 1961). For the reasons stated below, the State respectfully asks the Court to decline to review the certified question in the case at bar.

In <u>Jones v. State</u>, 569 So. 2d 1234, 1237 (Fla. 1990), this
Court held that the defendant's absence from sidebar conferences
where peremptory strikes were announced was <u>not</u> error because the
defendant was given the opportunity to confer with counsel at
defense table prior to the conferences. <u>Coney v. State</u>, 653 So.
2d 1009 (Fla. 1995), decided approximately four years later,
changed the law. It held that the defendant has a right to be
standing at the bench with counsel, not just sitting at defense

table.<sup>1</sup>. Justice Overton recognized <u>Coney</u>'s radical departure from judicial practice: "Judges have believed for nearly fifteen years that exercising challenges at the bench, outside the hearing of the jury while the defendant was at counsel table, was proper because the defendant was present in the courtroom." The number of cases litigating the <u>Coney</u> issue bears this out.<sup>2</sup>

The new rule announced in <u>Coney</u> was held to apply prospectively. There is nothing ambiguous about the prospectivity principle. As this Court has repeatedly held, prospective decisions do not apply to cases tried before the new

¹In his brief, Bowick misquotes this Court's <u>Coney</u> opinion. (I.B. 17) Although the first <u>Coney</u> decision indicated that no objection would be required, <u>Coney v. State</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S16, 17 (Fla. January 5, 1995) ("Obviously, no contemporaneous objection by the defendant is required to preserve this issue for review, since the defendant cannot be imputed with a lawyer's knowledge of the rules of criminal procedure"), the revised opinion eliminated that language, <u>Coney v. State</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S204 (Fla. April 27, 1995); <u>Coney v. State</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S255 (Fla. April 27, 1995); <u>Coney v. State</u>, 653 So. 2d 1009, 1013 (Fla. 1995).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Bowick relies on two cases in which the defendant was not even in the same room with the judge and the lawyers when the strikes were announced. <u>See Francis v. State</u>, 413 So. 2d 1175 (Fla. 1982) (defendant was in the bathroom part of the time while prospective jurors were questioned in the courtroom, and when the judge and counsel retired to the jury room to exercise peremptory strikes, the defendant was left in the courtroom); <u>Turner v. State</u>, 530 So. 2d 45, 47 (Fla. 1987) (defendant was not present in the judge's chambers when jurors were challenged).

decision was announced, regardless of whether such cases are still pending on appeal. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Fenelon v. State</u>, 594 So. 2d 292, 293, 295 (Fla. 1992) ("We agree with the State that giving the flight instruction, even if erroneous, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt...," and "we approve the result below although we direct that henceforth the jury instruction on flight shall not be given"); Taylor v. State, 630 So. 2d 1038, 1042 (Fla. 1994) ("This Court intended that the holding in Fenelon be applied prospectively only, and, since Taylor was tried before our decision in Fenelon was issued, the trial court did not err given the circumstances of this case"); Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1000, 1007 n. 4 (Fla. 1994) ("We recognize that this holding [a prior decision is to have 'prospective effect only'] may seem contrary to a portion of Smith v. State, 598 So. 2d 1063, 1066 (Fla. 1992), which can be read to mean that any new rule of law announced by this Court always must be given retrospective application. However, such a reading would be inconsistent with a number of intervening cases. We read Smith to mean that new points of law established by this Court shall be deemed retrospective with respect to all non-final cases unless this Court says otherwise") (cites omitted); and Domberg v. State, 661 So. 2d 285, 287 (Fla. 1995) (in <u>Wuornos</u>, <u>Smith</u> was "read to mean

that new points of law established by this Court shall be deemed retrospective with respect to all non-final cases unless this Court says otherwise").

The defendant in <u>Coney</u> was not given the benefit of the new rule, regardless of how it is ultimately characterized. (Bowick asserts that the new rule relates solely to the requirement of a recorded waiver of the defendant's right to be present at sidebar conferences (I.B. 18), an interpretation which overlooks <u>Jones</u>, <u>supra</u>.) Coney was not released from custody; he was not granted a new trial; and neither his conviction nor his sentence was reduced. No rational reason exists for according Bowick relief not granted to Coney.

In the event this Court elects to address the certified question, the State asks that the rule announced in Coney be clarified. The law should be made clear that if a defendant wants to stand at the bench with the lawyers when peremptory strikes are announced, the burden is on him to make his request known to the judge. If he remains silent, he has waived the right, and he cannot be heard to complain for the first time on appeal about his absence from the sidebar conference.

The defendant's absence from sidebar conferences where peremptory strikes are announced does not offend the

constitution. See, e.g., U.S. v. Gayles, 1 F. 3d 735, 738 (8th Cir. 1993) (defendant was absent from courtroom when attorney announced strikes over the lunch break, but he was present when clerk gave strikes effect by reading off list of selected jurors); U.S. v. McCoy, 8 F. 3d 495, 496-497 (7th Cir. 1993) (defendant was not present at sidebar conference where "the attorneys discussed their peremptory challenges, only one of which raised any concern"); U.S. v. Bascaro, 742 F. 2d 1335, 1349-1350 (11th Cir. 1984) (defendants in courtroom entire time but lawyers left courtroom briefly to confer collectively to decide on peremptory strikes).

This Court recently applied the contemporaneous objection rule to violations of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.180. In Gibson v. State, 661 So. 2d 288, 290 (Fla. 1995), decided after Coney, the defendant argued:

Gibson raises three claims relating to the guilt phase of the trial: (1) The trial court violated Gibson's right to be present and to the assistance of counsel by denying his counsel's request to consult with Gibson before exercising peremptory challenges. (e.s.)

\*\*\* Gibson claims error in two respects. First, he argues that the trial court violated his right to be present with counsel during the challenging of jurors by conducting the challenges in a bench conference. Second, he argues that the trial court violated his right to the assistance of counsel by denying defense

counsel's request to consult with Gibson before exercising peremptory challenges. (e.s.)

In deciding Gibson, this Court stated:

In Steinhorts v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982), we said that, "in order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below." In this case, we find that Gibson's lawyer did not raise the issue that is now being asserted on appeal. If counsel wanted to consult with his client over which jurors to exclude and to admit, he did not convey this to the trial court. On the record, he asked for an afternoon recess for the general purpose of meeting with his client. Further, there is no indication in this record that Gibson was prevented or limited in any way from consulting with his counsel concerning the exercise of juror challenges. On this record, no objection to the court's procedure was ever In short, Gibson has demonstrated neither error nor prejudice on the record before this Court. Cf. Coney v. State, 653 So. 2d 1009, 1013 (Fla. 1995) (holding trial court's error in conducting pretrial conference where juror challenges were exercised in absence of defendant was harmless beyond reasonable doubt). (e.s.)

See, also, Shriner v. State, 452 So. 2d 929 (Fla. 1984)

(defendant's absence from unspecified bench conferences not fundamental error).

The clarification of the rule sought by the State is compatible with the approach taken by the federal courts. A criminal defendant need not be warned of his right to be present under Federal Rule 43, comparable to Rule 3.180, and the right is waived unless the defendant expressly invokes it. Fed. Rules Cr.

Proc., Rule 43; <u>United States v. Gagnon</u>, 470 U.S. 522, 527-530 (1985) (right waived where defendants did not ask to be present during in camera discussion among judge, juror, and one of the defense lawyers).

In the case at bar, Bowick made no request to stand at the bench; nor did he object to the procedure used for challenging jurors. (R. 216, 220, 222)

Contrary to Bowick's assertion (I.B. 19), the State is not "estopped" from advancing inconsistent arguments on the law in different cases. There are three estoppel doctrines (mutual collateral, nonmutual collateral, and judicial). Judicial estoppel does not apply here because that doctrine is limited to a party's positions on the "facts." Rand G. Boyers, Comment, Precluding Inconsistent Statements: The Doctrine of Judicial Estoppel, 80 Nw. U. L. Rev. 1244, 1262 (1986). Mutual collateral estoppel does not apply here because that doctrine requires that the parties be the same; that is, the defendant must be the same in both proceedings. Ashe v. Swenson, 397 U.S. 436, 443 (1970). Nonmutual (different parties, as here) collateral estoppel does not extend to the government. U.S. v. Mendoza, 464 U.S. 154 (1984); Standefer v. United States, 447 U.S. 10 (1980); Nichols v. Scott, 69 F. 3d 1255, 1268-1274 (5th Cir. 1995). Finally,

pure questions of law, such as the one at issue here (what does a rule of procedure mean), arising in unrelated cases are excepted from the collateral estoppel doctrine. Mendoza, 464 U.S. at 573 n 7.

Bowick relies on <u>State v. Pitts</u>, 249 So. 2d 47 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971) for the proposition that the Equal Protection Clause prohibits the State from taking different positions on a legal issue. He misreads that case.

A party's "confession of error" is nothing more than the party's opinion on the law. It does not bind the Court, State v. Lozano, 616 So. 2d 73, 75 n 4 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); L.S. v. State, 547 So. 2d 1032 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989), for the obvious reason that only the Court has the power to say what the law means, State v. Smith, 547 So. 2d 613, 616 (Fla. 1989). It is only when the Court adopts the opinion of a party as its own that it becomes the law, and it is at this point that it must be applied equally to everyone. This is what was of concern to the Pitts court.

The Equal Protection Clause requires the government to apply the law, not the government's opinion on the law, equally to all similarly situated persons. The government's opinion on the law may be wrong, either to the defendant's detriment or his benefit. If it is to his detriment, the harm will be remedied. If it is

to his benefit, the windfall stands. Although windfalls cannot be undone, the government can prevent others from unjustly reaping the benefit of the error. Mendoza, 464 U.S. at 161-162.

The contemporaneous objection rule limits the arguments that the losing party can advance on appeal. State v. Applegate, 591 P. 2d 371, 373 (Or. App. 1979) set outs the many policy reasons for this rule. The prevailing party, however, is not limited by what he argued in the lower court. This is so because of the procedural rule which requires appellate courts to affirm the decisions of lower courts if correct, even though based on faulty reasoning. Stuart v. State, 360 So. 2d 406, 408 (Fla. 1978) The primary purpose for this rule is obvious. "It would be wasteful to send a case back to a lower court to reinstate a decision which it had already made but which the appellate court concluded should properly be based on another ground within the power of the appellate court to formulate." Securities and Exchange Com. v. Chenery Corp., 318 U.S. 80, 88 (1943).

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing discussion, the State respectfully requests the Honorable Court to decline to review this case or, alternatively, to answer the certified question in the negative and clarify its <u>Coney</u> decision.